

Holger Seebens, Peter Wobst

The Impact of Increased School



Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania

ZEF – Discussion Papers on Development Policy Bonn, October 2003 The **CENTER FOR DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH (ZEF)** was established in 1995 as an international, interdisciplinary research institute at the University of Bonn. Research and teaching at ZEF aims to contribute to resolving political, economic and ecological development problems. ZEF closely cooperates with national and international partners in research and development organizations. For information, see: http://www.zef.de.

ZEF – **DISCUSSION PAPERS ON DEVELOPMENT POLICY** are intended to stimulate discussion among researchers, practitioners and policy makers on current and emerging development issues. Each paper has been exposed to an internal discussion within the Center for Development Research (ZEF) and an external review. The papers mostly reflect work in progress.

Holger Seebens, Peter Wobst: The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania, ZEF – Discussion Papers on Development Policy No. 74, Center for Development Research, Bonn, October 2003, pp. 25.

ISSN: 1436-9931

Published by: Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF) Center for Development Research Walter-Flex-Strasse 3 D – 53113 Bonn Germany Phone: +49-228-73-1861 Fax: +49-228-73-1869 E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de http://www.zef.de

The authors:

Holger Seebens, Center for Development Research, University of Bonn (contact: holger.seebens@uni-bonn.de)
Peter Wobst, Center for Development Research, University of Bonn and International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington D.C. (contact: p.wobst@cgiar.org)

Contents

Ack	knowledgement	
Abs	stract	1
Kur	zfassung	2
1	Introduction	3
2	Background on Tanzania's Economy	5
3	Underlying Dynamic Model	7
4	Data	8
5	Experimental Design and Results	10
6	Conclusions	21
Ref	erences	23
Арр	pendix	25

List of Tables

Table 1:	Distribution of Value Added Across Labor, Capital and Land and Labor Force Composition	5
Table 2:	Sectoral Structure of the Tanzanian Economy (in %)	6
Table 3:	Evolvement of Income Inequality According to Gini	19
Table 4:	Evolvement of Poverty According to Sen Poverty Index	20
Table A.1:	Labor Force by Labor Category (2000/01)	25
Table A.2:	Household Population by Household Category (2000/01)	25

List of Figures

Figure 1:	Population and Labor Force Growth	9
Figure 2:	Labor Force Growth – Base Scenario	11
Figure 3:	Labor Force Growth – 'RedChild' Scenario	12
Figure 4:	Labor Force Growth – 'PrimChild' Scenario	13
Figure 5:	Labor Force Growth – 'TransChild' Scenario	14
Figure 6:	Total GDP and Private Consumption Changes as Compared to the Base Run in 2015	15
Figure 7:	GDP at Factor Costs Growth	16
Figure 8:	Relative Income Changes as Compared to the Base Run in 2015	17
Figure 9:	Relative Changes of Average Wage Paid to Labor as Compared to the Base Run in 2015	18
Figure 10:	Changes of Factor Income Shares as Compared to the Base Run in 2015	19

List of Boxes

Box 1:	Policy Simulations	10
	5	

Acknowledgement

This research was made possible through funding by the Robert Bosch Foundation.

Abstract

Failure to accumulate human capital is one of the pressing problems of developing countries. Lacking human capital formation bears consequences on an economy wide level, since education contributes to labor productivity. We examine the impact of increased school enrollment with regard to economic growth and income inequality. A dynamic computable general equilibrium (DCGE) model applying a 2000 SAM for Tanzania is used to evaluate the quantitative long-term effects of increased school attendance on overall economic growth and welfare. In order to get an insight in how a potential skill upgrade would affect the economy, we simulate a government program that aims at increasing primary school enrollment. We find that an increase in human capital formation in the long run leads to higher economic growth rates and increases household incomes in a Pareto sense. The results show that the positive effects of enhanced human capital formation are rather moderate in terms of the distribution of the gains from economic growth and hence income inequality does not change substantially.

Kurzfassung

Eines der drängenden Probleme von Entwicklungsländern ist die geringe Rate der Humankapitalakkumulation. Dies hat jedoch Konsequenzen für die gesamte Wirtschaft eines Landes, da Bildung zur Anhebung der Arbeitsproduktivität beiträgt. In diesem Papier wird die Auswirkung einer Erhöhung der Einschulungsrate im Hinblick auf wirtschaftliches Wachstum und die Verteilung von Einkommen untersucht. Es wird ein dynamisches, allgemeines Gleichgewichtsmodell und eine "Social Accounting Matrix" (SAM) von Tansania für das Jahr 2000 angewandt, um ein Regierungsprogramm zu simulieren, welches auf eine Erhöhung der Einschulungsrate abzielt. Die Ergebnisse der Simulation zeigen, dass eine erhöhte Bildung von Humankapital durch höhere Einschulungsraten langfristig zu höherem wirtschaftlichem Wachstum und zu einer Pareto effizienten Anhebung der Haushaltseinkommen führt. Die Ergebnisse zeigen jedoch nur geringe Änderungen der Einkommensungleichheit.

The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania

- Benjamin W. Mkapa, President of the Republic of Tanzania -

1 Introduction

One of the most undisputed correlations in economics is the positive relationship between human capital formation and economic development. Theory and the empirical literature suggest that education positively contributes to higher productivity levels in non-agricultural as well as in agricultural sectors (Psacharopoulos 1984, 1989). Lockheed, Jamison and Lau (1980) report in an overview over 18 studies on the correlation between education and productivity that most studies found a positive and significant relationship.¹ In agriculture, a more recent study from Pinckney (1997), which also refers to Tanzania, reports significant results on positive returns to education. Further evidence indicates that educated workers in Eastern Africa show a higher marginal product hence earning higher wages (Knight and Sabot 1990). Apparently skills obtained at school account for most earnings differentials what allows the conclusion that households might be better off in the long term when they send their children to school.

Improving human capital through schooling has also implications for development on national scale. Much theoretic work has been undertaken to model the link between human capital formation and economic development (Romer 1986, 1990, Lucas 1988, 1993, Stokey 1988, 1991), and several empirical studies have demonstrated a positive correlation between human capital stocks and economic growth (Mankiw, Romer, and Weil 1992, Barro and Sala-I-Martin 1991 and 1995). Human capital has since become a common control variable in many regressions concerned with the determinants of economic growth.

Failure to accumulate human capital is one of the pressing problems of developing countries. One of the most important reasons why many developing countries fail to accumulate human capital is the fact that a large number of children are engaged in work rather than in schooling. This bears consequences at individual and societal level: (1) As a young adult, the child who dropped out of school is unlikely to cross a certain income threshold, since incomes for educated and non-educated labor can differ vastly. (2) Through the massive dropout of numerous children, the aggregate rate of human capital accumulation in the national economy declines and hence hampers economic growth and development.

Facing the importance of human capital formation this paper is concerned with the effects of skills upgrading of the labor force on economic growth and household welfare. We start from the assumption that child labor ineffectively binds human resources that might be shifted to more productive utilizations in the long run by moving children away from the labor market into

[&]quot;Our goal is to have all children in school by the year 2005, as well as to improve the quality of education in primary schools."

¹ See also Jamison and Lau (1982) for a general introduction into that issue.

school. We examine the effects of skills upgrading through improved school enrollment with regard to economic growth and income inequality. A dynamic computable general equilibrium (DCGE) model is applied to evaluate the quantitative long-term effects of increased school attendance on economic growth and individual welfare. The following section briefly summarizes some basic features of the Tanzanian economy. Section 3 describes the underlying model, while Section 4 is dedicated to data descriptions. Section 5 introduces to the design of the experiments conducted, followed by Section 6 where the results of the analysis are presented and Section 7 where some conclusions are drawn.

2 Background on Tanzania's Economy

In accordance to the Anglo-Saxon educational system, the Tanzanian school system is divided into primary and secondary school, following a 7-4-2 system. Primary school takes 7 grades to finish, while it takes another 4 grades (Form 1-4) to obtain the Certificate of Secondary Education. Adding 2 grades (Form 5 and 6) more culminates in the Advanced Certificate of Secondary Education. Gross primary school enrollment rates² in Tanzania dropped from 92.5% in 1980 to 63.0% in 1998 (World Bank 2002) after mandatory enrollment was abandoned in the course of the liberalization program, imposing a serious deficit in future human capital development. The net secondary school enrollment rate has risen from 3.3% in 1980 to 5.8% in 2000. Primary schools are mostly owned and run by the government. School fees have to be paid in addition to the purchase of school uniforms, which are the responsibility of the parents. In view of the low enrollment rates and the importance of education for development, improvement of the education system belongs to the most important issues on Tanzania's agenda for development.

	Share of value added	Share of labor force	
CHILDLAB*	0.3	13.4	
NOEDU	2.0	22.1	
NOPRIM	4.4	15.3	
NOSEC	15.6	55.4	
FINSEC	7.8	3.8	
Total labor	30.2		
Subsistence	26.7		
Capital	39.2		
Land	3.9		
Total	100.0	100.0	

Table 1: Distribution of Value Added Across Labor, Capital and Land and Labor Force Composition

Source: Authors' calculations and LFS 2000/01

*All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

Although child labor is prohibited by law it is virtually existent in most sectors of the Tanzanian economy—with an upward time trend. Out of 16.4 million working people³ about 13.4% or 2.2 million are children⁴. Most of the children work in the poultry and livestock, vegetables and fruits sectors, as well as in the cotton sectors. Although children constitute a

² The gross enrollment rates as defined by the World Bank report the ratio of all children currently enrolled to the officially eligible age group.

³ Data derived from the Labor Force Survey 2000/01 (URT 2002a).

⁴ See Table A.1 in the Appendix for further descriptions of the structure of the labor force

relatively large portion of the labor force they contribute only 0.3% to total GDP at factor costs.⁵ This suggests a trade-off between children working and children going to school in order to accumulate human capital. In a study on Tanzania, Akabayahi and Psacharopoulos (1999) established this trade-off empirically and found that indeed child labor is negatively correlated with hours spent for studying and learning. The numbers further indicate that in terms of welfare households might indeed face a reduction in income when child earnings are missing, but they also show that this share is rather low. In the long term, households will most likely be better off.

	Sectors	Value added	Production value	Total employment	Total exports	Total imports
Agriculture	Maize	10.1	6.3	33.4	0.1	0.7
	Cereals	5.7	4.2	10.7	0.3	1.9
	Major export crops	3.7	3.1	4.1	30.6	0.0
	Other crops	17.5	10.3	22.8	5.1	2.7
	Livestock/ Forestry	11.5	6.9	9.1	7.8	0.2
Non-agricultu	re Food processing	6.9	12.0	4.7	1.9	10.7
	Non-agricultural					
	Manufacturing	8.0	8.5	0.6	4.0	52.3
	Mining	1.4	0.9	0.1	2.0	0.6
	Construction	4.8	5.6	0.5	0.0	0.0
	Trade	8.7	6.0	3.4	0.0	0.0
	Hotel	2.9	3.3	0.8	0.0	0.0
	Transportation	5.0	4.1	0.4	41.1	22.6
	Real estate	5.0	14.5	5.5	0.0	0.0
	Public services	6.2	11.9	1.2	1.9	0.7
	Business	2.4	2.2	2.7	5.3	7.6
Totals	Total agriculture	48.6	30.9	80.1	43.8	5.5
	Total non-agriculture	51.4	69.1	19.9	56.2	94.5
	Total	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0

Table 2: Sectoral Structure of the Tanzanian Economy (in %)

Source: Authors' calculations from Tanzania SAM 2000.

With a gross national income of 9.4 billion US\$ and a per capita income of 270 US\$ in 2000, Tanzania belongs to the poorest countries in the world. The economy is largely driven by agriculture and about 80% of the labor force is employed in agriculture. Despite its importance as the major employer in Tanzania, the agricultural sector generates only 48.6% of value added and produces 43.8% of total exports. Within agriculture, maize is the most produced single crop and the major employer in the economy, as 33.4% of the labor force is involved in maize production. Table 1 provides a more disaggregated overlook of the economic structure by sectors.

⁵Data derived from Household Budget Survey 2000/01 (URT 2002b).

3 Underlying Dynamic Model

In this section, we present the dynamic computable general equilibrium (CGE) model and a summary of the Tanzanian database to which the model is applied. In contrast to conventional static CGE models, the dynamic CGE model approach allows to analyze long-term effects that evolve over time. In many cases, like changes in quantities of labor supplied, the shock imposed in the model has an inherent time lag. Impacts are not immediately obvious but emerge over time. This time dimension can be modeled with a DCGE model, which considers the evolvement of factor stocks.

The dynamic CGE model is based on the "standard" static CGE model developed by Lofgren et al. (2002), which recently has been extended by Hans Lofgren at the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) to incorporate temporal dynamics.⁶ It is constructed to be recursive meaning that it is solved for each period hence generating selected parameter values which are then rendered into the consecutive period where the model is again solved using the new values. To account for its recursive features the model is divided into two sub-sections—the within-period module and the between-period module. The within period module is basically a static CGE model and defines the behavior of public and private agents who choose their optimal level of consumption and production on the basis of relative prices. In the model all agents are myopic which means they do not make their decisions with regard to future expectations but base their decision making only on current economic conditions. In concordance to many other CGE models all agents are price takers indicating perfect competitive markets. The assumption of shortsighted economic agents is justified as there is only little empirical support for the assumption that agents make their decisions on the basis of perfect foresight.

The between-period module of the model defines the size of the labor stock, which is updated from period to period based on an exogenously determined growth rate. In the base run labor stock evolvement is connected to population growth, growing at exactly the same rate. Accumulation of capital is endogenous and depends on the stock of the previous period, investments, and the depreciation rate. Labor and capital stocks are disaggregated by institutions (private households and government) what allows for calculating the shares of labor income of each institution. An additional feature that distinguishes the dynamic from the static CGE model is that it allows for total factor productivity growth. For the relevant period of 2000 to 2015 we assume a 0.5% annual total factor productivity growth for all sectors of the Tanzanian economy. The model is solved for each consecutive period thus creating a dataset for each of the 16 periods, which contains economy wide data on micro and macro levels plus evolvement of stocks that are allowed to change over time.

⁶ This section is based on an unpublished work-in-progress manuscript by Hans Lofgren at IFPRI that describes the dynamic CGE modeling approach applied here.

4 Data

The main data source for the analysis is a 2000 social accounting matrix (SAM) for Tanzania, which has been documented by Thurlow and Wobst (2003). It includes several accounts for activities, commodities, factors and institutions that represent all payment flows in the Tanzanian economy, including monetized non-monetary transactions such as own-household consumption or gifts. The accounts are disaggregated into lower level units to account for different agents and sectors. The SAM is adapted to poverty analysis since household and labor categories take into account the large number of people living below the basic needs poverty line and the high share of agricultural production in generating value added. The households are disaggregated into 12 categories considering (i) different poverty levels according to Tanzania's Poverty Base Line Study (URT 2000) as well as (ii) rural and urban areas. A particular feature of the Tanzania SAM is that it explicitly considers a child labor market. The SAM labor category accounting for child labor contains children from 10 to 14 years old that are working for wage. Other labor categories include accounts for non-educated labor, labor with some education but not finished primary school, labor finished primary but not finished secondary school, and labor with completed secondary or higher education. These four adult labor markets are further divided by gender. The last account representing a share of the total labor force is a subsistence factor, which is an aggregate of all people working in the subsistence sector and capital used in the subsistence sector.

The dynamic model requires additional data about population growth rates to bring forward the population and labor force, which has been adopted from the World Development Indicators 2002 (World Bank 2002). Since the model is dynamic and allows for the evaluation of future prospects the accordant growth rates have to be based on expectations rather than experience. In this respect it is quite difficult to determine the future growth rates, especially when the time horizon is rather long. As can be seen from Figure 1, although the labor force does not grow exactly in concordance with total population the correlation is quite high—in particular from 1996 onwards. This reasonably justifies the linkage of population growth rates to the respective labor force growth rates in the base run which are therefore set to 2.3% in the first period. The declining trend of population growth is continued in the model and we assume an annual decrease of the population growth rate of 2.5%. This annual reduction generates a population growth rate of 1.7% in 2015, which seems justifiable in the face of an expected high mortality rate through AIDS and a further decline in birth rates over time. Since land is a non-tradeable factor and new land is often substituted for degraded land plots the growth rate for land is set to zero.



Figure 1: Population and Labor Force Growth

Source: World Development Indicators (World Bank 2002)

5 Experimental Design and Results

In order to get an insight into the impact of skills upgrading on the Tanzanian economy, we simulate a governmental program that aims at increasing primary school enrollment. We assume that the program affects the amount of working children and thus child labor is reduced. In our simulation, the enhancement of the school enrollment rate leads to a decrease of the amount of child labor by 50%. All children sent to school are completely removed from the wage labor market. We impose a program-duration of 5 years with an annual reduction of 10 percentage points to achieve a total 50% reduction in the supply of child labor from year 2000 to 2005. In the scenarios we compare the economic impact of an increased output of educated labor as compared to the base scenario that represents the current status quo of the skill structure of the Tanzanian labor market.

Box 1: Policy Simulations

'RedChild' - scenario

- Child labor decreases by 50% over 5 periods assuming increased school enrollment
- After 7 periods, all formerly working children now enrolled finish primary schooling and join the primary educated labor market segment

'PrimChild' - scenario

- As 'RedChild'
- Labor force growth rates are interdependent (size of non-educated labor force declines due to higher school enrollment)

'TransChild' - scenario

- As 'PrimChild'
- But, adjusted for drop-out probabilities from educational transition matrix (Arndt and Wobst 2002)
- Pupils dropping out of primary school enter labor force segment 'not-finished-primary-school'

We run 3 different scenarios, described in Box 1, distinguished by different assumptions with regard to labor force growth and the success of schooling. The simulated government program is the same across all 3 scenarios and hence, in each scenario 50% of child labor is moved from wage labor to school. All scenarios extend over 16 periods, for 2000 to 2015. In the first scenario, 'RedChild', the children who have been working in the base scenario are now sent to school in 5 consecutive steps. After 7 years of primary school attendance they enter the adult labor market and complement the portion of the labor force that has finished primary but not finished secondary school. We allocate these children to the respective labor segments according to their gender. In the second scenario, 'PrimChild', we consider that the evolvement of other

The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania

labor segments is affected by the reduction of the child labor force. Since non-educated labor is to a great extent supplemented by laborers that have been working as children and thus were not able to attend school, the growth rate of this labor segment must decrease as a result of the increased primary school enrollment. In the 'PrimChild' scenario we take these interdependencies into account and reduce the size of unskilled labor categories according to the number of children that are now educated and have entered the skilled labor force. In order to further adjust the model to the Tanzanian reality, we consider that children initially enrolled in primary school often fail to finish the first degree. To obtain the probabilities with which children move through the Tanzanian school system, we rely on the educational transition matrix estimated by Arndt and Wobst (2002). The values of the transition matrix provide information about how likely an average child is to finish primary school. Only 63.7% of the children initially enrolled in Grade 1 finish the whole 7 years of primary education. In the 'TransChild' scenario, children who drop out are allocated to the labor force segment not-finished-primary schooling.





Source: Authors' calculations

*All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy 74

Special attention is paid to the development of the labor force composition over time. Figure 2 shows labor force growth rates from year 2000 to 2015 in the base scenario. Labor with primary school education (NOSEC) constitutes with a share of 45.4% the largest portion of the labor force. The share of unskilled female labor (NOEDU-F) lies at 14.6% and is substantially higher than the share of unskilled males (NOEDU-M) with a share of 7.5% of the total labor force. Females have usually less opportunities to enjoy formal education than men, although the gender difference is rather low when looking at workers who finished primary school. With 13.4%, the figure further shows a very high share of child labor (CHILDLAB) in the total labor force.

Figure 3 reports labor force growth rates after implementing the schooling program. Child labor is reduced by 50% while, after 7 years, the primary educated labor force segments (NOSEC-F and NOSEC-M) increase as the additionally educated children enter the adult labor market. All other labor segments grow constantly as before.



Figure 3: Labor Force Growth - 'RedChild' Scenario*

Source: Authors' calculations

*All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania

In the second scenario, 'PrimChild', the growth rates of the labor segments are interdependent. Due to the reduction of working children who usually feed into the non-educated labor force segments (NOEDU-F and NOEDU-M), these segments now receive only a smaller portion of new labor and, consequently, not only their growth rates but their sheer size decreases.



Figure 4: Labor Force Growth - 'PrimChild' Scenario*

*All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

In addition to the interdependency of the child labor and non-educated labor force segments, the third scenario, 'TransChild', utilizes the probabilities with which pupils are expected to achieve a certain educational degree. Applying the probabilities of the educational transition matrix, the success of the school program from the first two scenarios is dampened. Since only 63.7% of the newly enrolled children finish primary school the growth of the primary educated labor force segments slows down, while the growth of not-finished-primary-school labor force segments increases as compared to the 'PrimChild' scenario, which is shown in Figure 5.

Source: Authors' calculations



Figure 5: Labor Force Growth - 'TransChild' Scenario*

*All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

Beside the more descriptive effects of a reduction of working children it is interesting to see what happens to welfare in terms of private consumption and GDP at factor costs.⁷ Figure 6 shows the evolvement of total consumption and GDP over time. The first set of bars indicates the percentage point difference of the scenarios from the base run for private consumption for the last period 2015. The increase of the educated labor force affects growth rates of GDP and private consumption thus replicating the findings of empirical studies. In the final period, total GDP from the first scenario 'RedChild' is 1.7% higher than in the base scenario. The values obtained from the third scenario, 'TransChild', are smaller than the results of the first two scenarios: GDP is only 0.8% higher than in the base scenario. Private consumption has risen by more than 1.5% after 15 years in the first scenario, while it is increasing by only 0.7% in the second and the third scenario.

Source: Authors' calculations

⁷ In the remainder all occurrences of GDP refer to GDP at factor costs.



Figure 6: Total GDP and Private Consumption Changes as Compared to the Base Run in 2015

Source: Authors' calculations

While Figure 6 reports absolute levels, in Figure 7 we have standardized absolute levels of GDP from the base scenario to 100, making it easier to evaluate simulated changes in GDP. The vertical axis refers to percentage changes of GDP for the scenarios in relation to the base run. The figure shows that GDP declines during the first periods when child labor is removed from the labor market. But when the educated adolescents enter the labor market, GDP growth in the scenarios outperforms the base run as the increased formation of human capital comes into effect. The higher the share of relatively well-educated workers in the economy, the higher its GDP growth. The findings are also supportive of the assumption that households might face a trade-off between welfare in the short and the long run since GDP first declines and is overcompensated for these early declines only after 8 years—a planning horizon to be considered by the government, but a rather unlikely planning horizon for most subsistence households in Tanzania.



Figure 7: GDP at Factor Costs Growth

Source: Authors' calculations

As GDP grows total incomes evolve positively and all households gain from the upgrading of skills and economic growth. Figure 8 shows the relative changes in incomes for the 12 household categories at the end of the last period for all three simulations. In the scenario 'RedChild', rural households operating below the poverty line earn a 2.2% higher income in comparison to the base run. There is a clear increase in income of households across all categories indicating that the economy reaches a new Pareto optimum, though the distribution of additional income increases is not equal. The findings support the further conclusion that poor and/or unskilled rural households gain most from educational improvements. Their incomes increase by an average of 2.3% in the first scenario. If the head-of-household is un-educated or has dropped out of primary education, rural households above the basic needs poverty line gain slightly more than poor rural households. This general picture is more or less the same across the other scenarios.



Figure 8: Relative Income Changes as Compared to the Base Run in 2015*

Source: Authors' calculations *All acronyms are explained in Table A.2 of the Appendix.

Even though rural households gain more than urban households, the results also show that, poor and unskilled non-poor households gain more than the more skilled non-poor households. The average income increase of poor and/or unskilled households in urban areas amounts to 1.2% in the 'RedChild' scenario. Non-poor households in rural and urban areas exhibit less pronounced income changes of about 0.9%. In the third scenario, the picture is quite similar as compared to the 'RedChild' scenario, although the values are much smaller. The schooling program has only marginal effects on the evolution of household incomes in rather skilled urban households and in scenario two, if the head-of-household is primary educated, households even loose from the reduction of child labor. This can be partly explained from the fact that wages adjust to the changed quantities of labor supply in the respective categories. All in all, the income gap between rural and urban, as well as between skilled and unskilled household categories is narrowing.

Since, due to the program, more educated labor is supplied to the labor market, the wage gap narrows between non-educated and educated labor categories. Wages rise in particular for non-educated labor, while wages for female and male primary educated labor decrease due to their larger relative size as compared to the base run. Wages for the primary educated labor force decline by more than 10% in all scenarios. Thus, the closing of the wage gap mainly applies to low wages for non-educated labor and medium wages paid to primary educated labor, which are still much lower than wages paid to secondary educated labor.



Figure 9: Relative Changes of Average Wage Paid to Labor as Compared to the Base Run in 2015*

How do changes in the wage structure for different skill levels in the labor force affect the distribution of incomes across labor categories? First, we look at the evolvement of factor incomes over time and surprisingly there are no major impacts on the distribution of incomes to different factors resulting from increased school enrollment. The income changes presented in Figure 10 have again to be interpreted on the basis of the initial shares of the respective labor category thus deflating the results for non-educated labor.

Source: Authors' calculations *All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania



Figure 10: Changes of Factor Income Shares as Compared to the Base Run in 2015*

Since factor income shares do not change substantially, income inequality is not affected either, which is reflected in Table 2 that reports Gini-coefficients for each scenario. Inequality decreases only slightly. Differences between the scenarios and the base run are rather low though it should be noted that inequality declines in the course of economic growth in the base run as well as in the scenarios.

Table 3:	Evolvement	of Income	Inequality	According	to Gini-Index*

Scenario	2000	2015	Percentage changes
Base	0.475	0.456	4.0
RepChild	0.475	0.455	4.2
PrimChild	0.475	0.454	4.4
TransChild	0.475	0.454	4.4

*Column 2 and 3 report the respective Gini-coefficients, while column 4 indicates to what extent the coefficients changed in the course of time.

Although changes in overall income inequality measured through the Gini-coefficient are very small, changes in poverty can be better expressed through the Sen Poverty Index.⁸ Table 3

Source: Authors' calculations *All acronyms are explained in Table A.1 of the Appendix.

⁸ The Sen Poverty Index has been widely used in measuring changes in poverty, since it accounts simultaneously for inequality among the poor and their relative position as compared to the poverty line. See Sen (1976) for further discussion.

indicates that an increase of the educated labor force may not considerably change income inequality, but nevertheless has an impact on poverty. The index increases by 12.6% in the 'RedChild' scenario. In the second as well as in the third scenario, where a large number of children fail to finish primary school, the poverty index decreases by 11.6%, as compared to 9.8% in the base run.

Table 4: Evolvement of Poverty According to Sen Poverty Index*

	2000	2015	Percentage changes
Base	0.214	0.193	9.8
RepChild	0.214	0.187	12.6
PrimChild	0.214	0.189	11.6
TransChild	0.214	0.189	11.6

*Column 2 and 3 report the Sen Poverty Index, while column 4 indicates to what extent the coefficients changed in the course of time.

6 Conclusions

The simulation results indicate that schooling and skills upgrading has implications for overall economic growth. When child labor hinders human capital formation, economic growth is reduced. As expected, due to the removal of child labor from the labor market GDP growth is reduced in the first periods, but immediately outperforms the base run growth rates when human capital formation comes into effect. Beside the effects of a schooling program on economic growth, we focused on the distribution of the gains resulting from human capital formation. Although the increase of GDP might appear rather moderate, the gains are obvious, since the distribution of household income increases are Pareto efficient: except for one household category in the scenario 'PrimChild', none of the households faces a decrease of income. Our findings also show that factor shares do not substantially change. Hence, the impact on income inequality is rather low. This might be partly due to the fact that the Gini-coefficient does not reflect proportional changes in the rank (with respect to income) of a particular household category. As is obvious from the simulations, the gains are not equally distributed across all household categories. The incomes earned by poor rural households might outperform incomes of poor urban households, thus causing an interchange between the relative ranks of the respective household categories. However, the Sen Poverty Index shows that although inequality is not affected by human capital formation, poverty changes in a way that the index values decreases.

But even when inequality does not change in the simulations, the extension of the time path in the scenarios might show an improvement towards more equality. The results show that economic growth itself leads to a reduction in inequality. Furthermore, as for instance Romer (1986) or Lucas (1988) suggest, inherent to the formation of human capital are the long-term prospects for economic growth. As the endogenous growth theories emphasize human capital can lead to maintained long-run growth, through spillover effects or the improved adoption of new technologies.

The effects of human capital formation are most obvious in rural areas, where more child labor can be found and a higher percentage share of primary educated labor works. Whether such a schooling program works or not depends on how households assess the trade-off between slight income losses in the short run and high income gains in the long run. The decision on this clearly depends on the economic situation in which the household operates. When income from child labor is crucial to maintain the minimum food requirements, households will not have the opportunity to decide whether to send their children to school or not.

The results from the three scenarios are quite different, and which one of them is closer to reality is not easy to decide. Nevertheless, the results obtained from the 'TransChild' scenario

ZEF Discussion Papers on Development Policy 74

are probably closest to reality, since this scenario incorporates school drop-out rates observed in the Tanzanian school system. But the probabilities obtained from the educational transition matrix might be affected when more children go to school. With an increase of children enrolled in school the probability of attaining at least a degree in primary education might increase. Moreover, it is likely that although many children are sent to school in the simulations, a large number of children will continue to work, while neglecting their homework and thus fall back in their overall school performance. Furthermore, the AIDS pandemic is also likely to have a negative effect on the future evolvement of school enrollment rates (see Arndt and Wobst 2002, Beegle 2002). However, the conclusion that can be drawn from the results of the three scenarios is that the schooling system has to be improved, not only in educational quality but also with regard to dropout rates of pupils. Human capital formation is successful only in case the schooling system is efficient enough to guarantee at least a degree in primary school. If children attending school do not earn a degree that will help them to increase their value in the labor market, the effects of a schooling program might be quite disappointing. Given the long time horizon the incentive for households to send their children to school might be dampened, since substantial gains are not immediately obvious. For very poor households, sure income losses in the first periods may have a heavier weight than uncertain income gains in the future.

An increase of the overall level of education implies also non-economic benefits, as reported in Wolfe and Haveman (2001). For instance, positive correlations have been found between schooling and health, whereas spillover effects are regularly observed, i.e. children and spouses of educated people are usually in a better health condition than in uneducated families. Educated people have the capability to attain information on their own and can easily disperse information to others, thus encouraging activities like saving or introducing new technologies. Disposal of cognitive skills contributes to greater political awareness, hence encouraging voting behavior in democracies. Since many of these by-products from education might contribute to economic development, the moderate gains reported in this study could be regarded in this respect as the lower bound of benefits that an increase of primary schooling brings about. In view of these effects, the results from the 'TransChild'' scenario might therefore provide a lower bound under which the gains of the schooling program are unlikely to fall.

The fact that the modeled schooling program comes at no costs for the government is problematic when it comes to the real implementation of such a program. It is possible that schooling programs will not be conducted at all, when they are too costly and gains are too uncertain. It is also possible that increased expenditures on education will decrease investment in other sectors, due to the reallocation of available budgets what might have negative effects on the respective sector which are not accounted for in this model.

References

- Ainsworth, M. K. Beegle and G. Koda. 2002. *The impact of adult mortality on primary school enrollment in Northwestern Tanzania*. Africa Region Human Development Working Papers Series, World Bank: Washington D.C.
- Akabayashi, H. and G. Psacharopoulos. 1999. The trade-off between child labor and human capital formation: A Tanzanian case study. In: *The Journal of Development Studies*, 35(5), pp. 120-140.
- Arndt, C. and P. Wobst. 2002. *HIV/AIDS and labor markets in Tanzania*. TMD Discussion Paper No. 102. IFPRI: Washington D.C.
- Barro, R. J. and X. Sala-i-Martin. 1991. Convergence. In: *Journal of Political Economy*, 100(1), pp. 223-251.
- Barro, R. J. and X. Sala-i-Martin. 1995. Economic growth. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Jamison, D.T. and L. J. Lau. 1982. *Farmer education and farm efficiency*. Baltimore MD: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Knight, J.B. and R. Sabot. 1990. *Education, productivity and inequality: The East African natural experiment*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lockheed, M. E., D. T. Jamison and L. J. Lau. 1980. Farmer education and farm efficiency: A survey. In: *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 29, pp. 37-76.
- Lofgren, H., R. L. Harris, S. Robinson, M. Thomas, and M. El-Said. 2002. *A standard computable general equilibrium model in GAMS*. Microcomputers in Policy Research No. 5. IFPRI: Washington, D.C.
- Lucas, R. E. 1988. On the mechanics of economic development. In: *Journal of Monetary Economics* 22(1), pp. 3-42.
- Mankiw, N. G., D. Romer and D. N. Weil. 1992. A contribution to the empirics of economic growth. In: *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 107(2), pp. 407-437.
- Pinckney, T. C. 1997. Does education increase agricultural productivity in Africa? In: Proceedings of the International Association of Agricultural Economists Meeting: 1997, pp. 345-353.
- Psacharapolous, G. 1989. Returns to Education: A Further International Update and Implications. In: *Journal of Human Resources* 20(4), pp. 583-604.
- Psacharopoulos, G. 1984. The Contribution of Education to Economic Growth: International Comparisons. In: J.W. Kendrick (ed.). *International Comparisons of Productivity and Causes of the Slowdown*. Ballinger Publishing Company: Cambridge, MA.

- Psacharopoulos, G. and H. A. Patrinos. 2002. *Returns to investment in education: A further update*. Policy Research Working Paper 2881, World Bank: Washington D.C.
- Romer, P. M. 1986. Increasing returns and long-run growth. In: *Journal of Political Economy* 94(5), pp. 1002-1037.
- Romer, P. M. 1990. Endogenous technological change. In: *Journal of Political Economy* 98(5), pp. 71-102.
- Sen, A. 1976. Poverty: An ordinal approach to measurement. In: *Econometrica* 44(2), pp. 219-231.
- Stokey, N. L. 1988. Learning by doing and the introduction of new goods. In: *Journal of Political Economy* 96(4), pp. 701-17.
- Stokey, N. L. 1991. Human capital, product quality, and growth. In: *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106(2), pp. 587-616.
- Thurlow, J. and P. Wobst. 2003. *Poverty-focused social accounting matrices for Tanzania*. TMD Discussion Paper No. 112. IFPRI: Washington, D.C.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT). 2000. *Upgrading the Poverty Base Line in Tanzania*. National Bureau of Statistics: Dar Es Salaam.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT). 2002a. *The Labor Force Survey 2000/01*. National Bureau of Statistics: Dar Es Salaam.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT). 2002b. *The Household Budget Survey 2000/01*. National Bureau of Statistics: Dar Es Salaam.
- Wolfe, B. and R. Haveman. 2001. Accounting for the Social and Non-market Benefits of Education. In: J. Helliwell (ed.): *The Contribution of Human and Social Capital to Sustained Economic Growth and Well-being*. OECD/Human Resources Development Canada. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- World Bank. 2002. World Development Indicators 2002. CD-Rom. World Bank: Washington D.C

Appendix

Table A.1: Labor Force by Labor Category (2000/01)

Category	Acronym	Description	Number of Workers	Share of total workers
Child labor	CHILDLAB	Ages 10 to 14	2,199,466	13.4
Female	NOEDU-F	No formal education	2,393,453	14.6
	NOPRIM-F	Not finished primary school	1,053,960	6.4
	NOSEC-F	Not finished secondary school	3,675,128	22.4
	FINSEC-F	Secondary or higher education	224,616	1.4
Total adult female			7,347,157	44.8
Male	NOEDU-M	No formal education	1,235,325	7.5
	NOPRIM-M	Not finished primary school	1,455,872	8.9
	NOSEC-M	Not finished secondary school	3,773,804	23.0
	FINSEC-M	Secondary or higher education	391,328	2.4
Total adult male			6,856,330	41.8
All labor categories 16.402,952				

Source: Authors' calculations using the Labor Force Survey 2000/01 (URT 2002a)

Table A.2: Household Population by Household Category (2000/01)

Category	Acronym	Description	Number of People	Share of Total Population
Rural	RurBelow	Below food poverty line	5,080,859	16.2
	RurBetween	Between food and basic needs poverty lines	4,605,455	14.7
	RurNoEd	Non-poor – head with no education	3,512,349	11.2
	RurNoPrim	Non-poor – head not finished primary school	3,499,736	11.2
	RurNoSec	Non-poor – head not finished secondary school	7,842,113	24.9
	RurSec	Non-poor – head finished secondary school	661,535	2.1
Total rural	•	-	25,202,047	80.3
Urban	UrbBelow	Below food poverty line	674,816	2.2
	UrbBetween	Between food and basic needs poverty lines	712,486	2.3
	UrbNoEd	Non-poor – head with no education	422,993	1.4
	UrbNoPrim	Non-poor – head not finished primary school	689,084	2.2
	UrbNoSec	Non-poor – head not finished secondary school	2,462,953	7.9
	UrbSec	Non-poor – head finished secondary school	1,146,635	3.7
Total Urba	n	6,108,967	19.7	
All househ	olds (total popu	lation)	31,311,014	100.0

Source: Authors' calculations using the Household Budget Survey 2000/01 (URT 2002b)

The following papers have been published so far:

No. 1	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Diana Weinhold	Child Labor and the International Policy Debate Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1998, pp. 47.
No. 2	Patrick Webb, Maria Iskandarani	Water Insecurity and the Poor: Issues and Research Needs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, Oktober 1998, pp. 66.
No. 3	Matin Qaim, Joachim von Braun	Crop Biotechnology in Developing Countries: A Conceptual Framework for Ex Ante Economic Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 1998, pp. 24.
No. 4	Sabine Seibel, Romeo Bertolini, Dietrich Müller-Falcke	Informations- und Kommunikationstechnologien in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 1999, pp. 50.
No. 5	Jean-Jacques Dethier	Governance and Economic Performance: A Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 1999, pp. 62.
No. 6	Mingzhi Sheng	Lebensmittelhandel und Kosumtrends in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 57.
No. 7	Arjun Bedi	The Role of Information and Communication Technologies in Economic Development – A Partial Survey Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 1999, pp. 42.
No. 8	Abdul Bayes, Joachim von Braun, Rasheda Akhter	Village Pay Phones and Poverty Reduction: Insights from a Grameen Bank Initiative in Bangladesh Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 47.
No. 9	Johannes Jütting	Strengthening Social Security Systems in Rural Areas of Developing Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 1999, pp. 44.
No. 10	Mamdouh Nasr	Assessing Desertification and Water Harvesting in the Middle East and North Africa: Policy Implications Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 1999, pp. 59.
No. 11	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Externalities, Human Capital Formation and Corrective Migration Policy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 17.

No. 12	John Msuya	Nutrition Improvement Projects in Tanzania: Appropriate Choice of Institutions Matters Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 36.
No. 13	Liu Junhai	Legal Reforms in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 90.
No. 14	Lukas Menkhoff	Bad Banking in Thailand? An Empirical Analysis of Macro Indicators Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 38.
No. 15	Kaushalesh Lal	Information Technology and Exports: A Case Study of Indian Garments Manufacturing Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 1999, pp. 24.
No. 16	Detlef Virchow	Spending on Conservation of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture: How much and how efficient? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 17	Arnulf Heuermann	Die Bedeutung von Telekommunikationsdiensten für wirtschaftliches Wachstum Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 33.
No. 18	Ulrike Grote, Arnab Basu, Nancy Chau	The International Debate and Economic Consequences of Eco-Labeling Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 1999, pp. 37.
No. 19	Manfred Zeller	Towards Enhancing the Role of Microfinance for Safety Nets of the Poor Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 1999, pp. 30.
No. 20	Ajay Mahal, Vivek Srivastava, Deepak Sanan	Decentralization and Public Sector Delivery of Health and Education Services: The Indian Experience Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2000, pp. 77.
No. 21	M. Andreini, N. van de Giesen, A. van Edig, M. Fosu, W. Andah	Volta Basin Water Balance Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 29.
No. 22	Susanna Wolf, Dominik Spoden	Allocation of EU Aid towards ACP-Countries Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 59.

No. 23	Uta Schultze	Insights from Physics into Development Processes: Are Fat Tails Interesting for Development Research? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 21.
No. 24	Joachim von Braun, Ulrike Grote, Johannes Jütting	Zukunft der Entwicklungszusammenarbeit Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 25.
No. 25	Oded Stark, You Qiang Wang	A Theory of Migration as a Response to Relative Deprivation Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2000, pp. 16.
No. 26	Doris Wiesmann, Joachim von Braun, Torsten Feldbrügge	An International Nutrition Index – Successes and Failures in Addressing Hunger and Malnutrition Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2000, pp. 56.
No. 27	Maximo Torero	The Access and Welfare Impacts of Telecommunications Technology in Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2000, pp. 30.
No. 28	Thomas Hartmann- Wendels Lukas Menkhoff	Could Tighter Prudential Regulation Have Saved Thailand's Banks? Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, July 2000, pp. 40.
No. 29	Mahendra Dev	Economic Liberalisation and Employment in South Asia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 82.
No. 30	Noha El-Mikawy, Amr Hashem, Maye Kassem, Ali El-Sawi, Abdel Hafez El-Sawy, Mohamed Showman	Institutional Reform of Economic Legislation in Egypt Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 72.
No. 31	Kakoli Roy, Susanne Ziemek	On the Economics of Volunteering Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2000, pp. 47.
No. 32	Assefa Admassie	The Incidence of Child Labour in Africa with Empirical Evidence from Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 61.
No. 33	Jagdish C. Katyal, Paul L.G. Vlek	Desertification - Concept, Causes and Amelioration Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 65.

No. 34	Oded Stark	On a Variation in the Economic Performance of Migrants by their Home Country's Wage Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2000, pp. 10.
No. 35	Ramón Lopéz	Growth, Poverty and Asset Allocation: The Role of the State Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 35.
No. 36	Kazuki Taketoshi	Environmental Pollution and Policies in China's Township and Village Industrial Enterprises Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2001, pp. 37.
No. 37	Noel Gaston, Douglas Nelson	Multinational Location Decisions and the Impact on Labour Markets Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 26.
No. 38	Claudia Ringler	Optimal Water Allocation in the Mekong River Basin Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2001, pp. 50.
No. 39	Ulrike Grote, Stefanie Kirchhoff	Environmental and Food Safety Standards in the Context of Trade Liberalization: Issues and Options Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2001, pp. 43.
No. 40	Renate Schubert, Simon Dietz	Environmental Kuznets Curve, Biodiversity and Sustainability Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 30.
No. 41	Stefanie Kirchhoff, Ana Maria Ibañez	Displacement due to Violence in Colombia: Determinants and Consequences at the Household Level Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2001, pp. 45.
No. 42	Francis Matambalya, Susanna Wolf	The Role of ICT for the Performance of SMEs in East Africa – Empirical Evidence from Kenya and Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 30.
No. 43	Oded Stark, Ita Falk	Dynasties and Destiny: On the Roles of Altruism and Impatience in the Evolution of Consumption and Bequests Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2001, pp. 20.
No. 44	Assefa Admassie	Allocation of Children's Time Endowment between Schooling and Work in Rural Ethiopia Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2002, pp. 75.

No. 45	Andreas Wimmer, Conrad Schetter	Staatsbildung zuerst. Empfehlungen zum Wiederaufbau und zur Befriedung Afghanistans. (German Version) State-Formation First. Recommendations for Reconstruction and Peace-Making in Afghanistan. (English Version) Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2002, pp. 27.
No. 46	Torsten Feldbrügge, Joachim von Braun	Is the World Becoming A More Risky Place? - Trends in Disasters and Vulnerability to Them – Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 42
No. 47	Joachim von Braun, Peter Wobst, Ulrike Grote	"Development Box" and Special and Differential Treatment for Food Security of Developing Countries: Potentials, Limitations and Implementation Issues Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2002, pp. 28
No. 48	Shyamal Chowdhury	Attaining Universal Access: Public-Private Partnership and Business-NGO Partnership Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2002, pp. 37
No. 49	L. Adele Jinadu	Ethnic Conflict & Federalism in Nigeria Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 45
No. 50	Oded Stark, Yong Wang	Overlapping Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, August 2002, pp. 17
No. 51	Roukayatou Zimmermann, Matin Qaim	Projecting the Benefits of Golden Rice in the Philippines Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2002, pp. 33
No. 52	Gautam Hazarika, Arjun S. Bedi	Schooling Costs and Child Labour in Rural Pakistan Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn October 2002, pp. 34
No. 53	Margit Bussmann, Indra de Soysa, John R. Oneal	The Effect of Foreign Investment on Economic Development and Income Inequality Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 35
No. 54	Maximo Torero, Shyamal K. Chowdhury, Virgilio Galdo	Willingness to Pay for the Rural Telephone Service in Bangladesh and Peru Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 39
No. 55	Hans-Dieter Evers, Thomas Menkhoff	Selling Expert Knowledge: The Role of Consultants in Singapore's New Economy Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2002, pp. 29

No. 56	Qiuxia Zhu Stefanie Elbern	Economic Institutional Evolution and Further Needs for Adjustments: Township Village Enterprises in China Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, November 2002, pp. 41
No. 57	Ana Devic	Prospects of Multicultural Regionalism As a Democratic Barrier Against Ethnonationalism: The Case of Vojvodina, Serbia´s "Multiethnic Haven" Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 29
No. 58	Heidi Wittmer Thomas Berger	Clean Development Mechanism: Neue Potenziale für regenerative Energien? Möglichkeiten und Grenzen einer verstärkten Nutzung von Bioenergieträgern in Entwicklungsländern Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, December 2002, pp. 81
No. 59	Oded Stark	Cooperation and Wealth Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, January 2003, pp. 13
No. 60	Rick Auty	Towards a Resource-Driven Model of Governance: Application to Lower-Income Transition Economies Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 24
No. 61	Andreas Wimmer Indra de Soysa Christian Wagner	Political Science Tools for Assessing Feasibility and Sustainability of Reforms Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 34
No. 62	Peter Wehrheim Doris Wiesmann	Food Security in Transition Countries: Conceptual Issues and Cross-Country Analyses Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, February 2003, pp. 45
No. 63	Rajeev Ahuja Johannes Jütting	Design of Incentives in Community Based Health Insurance Schemes Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 27
No. 64	Sudip Mitra Reiner Wassmann Paul L.G. Vlek	Global Inventory of Wetlands and their Role in the Carbon Cycle Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 44
No. 65	Simon Reich	Power, Institutions and Moral Entrepreneurs Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, March 2003, pp. 46
No. 66	Lukas Menkhoff Chodechai Suwanaporn	The Rationale of Bank Lending in Pre-Crisis Thailand Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 37

No. 67	Ross E. Burkhart Indra de Soysa	Open Borders, Open Regimes? Testing Causal Direction between Globalization and Democracy, 1970-2000 Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 24
No. 68	Arnab K. Basu Nancy H. Chau Ulrike Grote	On Export Rivalry and the Greening of Agriculture – The Role of Eco-labels Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, April 2003, pp. 38
No. 69	Gerd R. Rücker Soojin Park Henry Ssali John Pender	Strategic Targeting of Development Policies to a Complex Region: A GIS-Based Stratification Applied to Uganda Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 41
No. 70	Susanna Wolf	Private Sector Development and Competitiveness in Ghana Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, May 2003, pp. 29
No. 71	Oded Stark	Rethinking the Brain Drain Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 72	Andreas Wimmer	Democracy and Ethno-Religious Conflict in Iraq Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, June 2003, pp. 17
No. 73	Oded Stark	Tales of Migration without Wage Differentials: Individual, Family, and Community Contexts Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, September 2003, pp. 15
No. 74	Holger Seebens Peter Wobst	The Impact of Increased School Enrollment on Economic Growth in Tanzania Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF), Bonn, October 2003, pp. 25

ISSN: 1436-9931

The papers can be ordered free of charge from:

Zentrum für Entwicklungsforschung (ZEF)	Phone: +49-228-73-1861
Center for Development Research	Fax: +49-228-73-1869
Walter-Flex-Str. 3	E-Mail: zef@uni-bonn.de
D – 53113 Bonn, Germany	http://www.zef.de